HOUSE FI NANCE COW TTEE
April 2, 2012
1:37 p.m

1: 37: 01 PM

CALL TO ORDER

Co-Chair Stoltze called the House Finance Conmmittee neeting
to order at 1:37 p.m

VEMBERS PRESENT

Representative Bill Stoltze, Co-Chair
Representative Bill Thomas Jr., Co-Chair
Representati ve Anna Faircl ough, Vice-Chair
Representative Ma Costello
Representative M ke Doogan

Representati ve Bryce Edgnon
Representative Les Gara

Representative David Cuttenberg
Represent ati ve Reggi e Joul e

Representati ve Mark Neuman
Representative Tanme W/ son

VEMBERS ABSENT

None

ALSO PRESENT

Anne Carpeneti, Assistant Attorney Ceneral, Legal Services
Sect i on- Juneau, Cri m nal Di vi si on, Department of Law;
Ri chard Svobodny, Deputy Attorney General, Cri m nal
Di vi si on, Depar t ment of Law; Lisa Mariotti, Pol i cy
Director, Al aska Network of Donestic Violence and Sexual
Assault; Nancy Meade, General Counsel, Ofice of the
Adm nistrative Director, Al aska Court System Jane Pierson,
Staff, Representative Steve Thonpson; Beth Chapman, Private
Attor ney, Juneau.

PRESENT VI A TELECONFERENCE

Regi na Chennault, Physician and Menber, Violent Crines
Conmpensation Board; doria ONeill, President and Chief
Executive Oficer, Cook Inlet Tribal GCouncil, Anchorage;

House Fi nance Conmmittee 1 04/02/12 1:37 P. M



Ser geant Kat hy Lacey, Anchor age Pol i ce Depart nment ;
Li eutenant Rodney Dial, State Trooper, Departnent of Public
Safety; Gerad CGodfrey, Chair, Violent Crinmes Conpensation
Board; Alice Mers, Board Menber, Mary Magdal ene Home
Al aska, Anchorage; Quinlan Steiner, Public Defender Agency;
David Shaftel, Private Attorney, Anchor age; Dougl as
Bl att machr, Al aska Trust Conpany.

SUMVARY
HB 292 PRI NCI P. & | NC/ PROBATE/ UTMA/ RETI REMI/ ETC.

CSHB 292(L&C) was REPORTED out of conmittee with
a "do pass” recommendation and wth one
previ ously published zero fiscal note: FN1 (CED).

HB 359 SEX CRI MES; TESTI MONY BY VI DEO CONFERENCE

CSHB 359(FIN) was REPORTED out of conmittee with
a "do pass" recommendation and wth two new zero
fiscal not es from t he Depar t ment of
Adm ni stration, two new zero fiscal notes from
the Departnent of Public Safety, one new zero
fiscal note from the Departnent of Law, one new
indeterminate note from the Departnent of
Corrections, and one previ ously publ i shed
indeterm nate fiscal note: FN8 (CRT).

#hb359
HOUSE BILL NO. 359

"An  Act relating to conspiracy to commt hunman
trafficking in the first degree or sex trafficking in
the first degree; relating to the crime of furnishing
i ndecent material to mnors, the crinme of online
enticenent of a mnor, the crinme of prostitution, and
the crime of sex trafficking; relating to forfeiture
of property used in prostitution offenses; relating to
sex offender registration; relating to testinony by
video conference; adding Rule 38.3, Alaska Rules of
Crimnal Procedure; and providing for an effective
date."

1: 37: 40 PM

ANNE CARPENETI, ASSI STANT ATTORNEY CGENERAL, LEGAL SERVI CES
SECTI ON- JUNEAU, CRIM NAL DI VI SI CN, DEPARTMENT OF LAW

House Fi nance Conmmittee 2 04/02/12 1:37 P. M



introduced testifiers representing the Departnent of Law
(LAW, as well as other experts in the field that were
avai |l abl e for questions.

RI CHARD  SVOBODNY, DEPUTY  ATTORNEY  GENERAL, CRI M NAL
DI VI SI ON, DEPARTMENT OF LAW was present for questions.

REG NA CHENNAULT, PHYSICIAN AND MEMBER, VICOLENT CRIMES
COVMPENSATI ON BOARD (via teleconference), spoke in strong
support of the bill. She testified that her nenbership on
the board offered her firsthand know edge of the danage
caused as a result of sex trafficking. She spoke of a case
in Anchorage that involved an offender driving the streets
of the city and abducting children on their way to school
then forcing them into sex trafficking through drugs,
bodily harm and intimdation. She stated that one 16 year
old young woman abducted by the offender ended up brutally
beaten, pregnant, addicted to drugs, and suffering from
multiple, life-long sexually transmtted diseases. She
furthered that experience as a trauma surgeon had shown her
that when left unchecked, offenders and victins continued
the cycle of violence through generations. She thought that
a provision pertaining to any harm of an wunborn child
shoul d be consi der ed.

1: 42: 33 PM

Co-Chair Stoltze directed attention to a provision in the
bill t hat provided for video conferencing for the
conpetency hearing and the trial. He queried her stance on
t he subject of video conferencing.

Dr. Chennault asked for clarification of the question.

Ms. Carpeneti explained that there were two provisions in
the bill related to the sinultaneous taking of testinony
from victins by video conferencing. She said that one was
for the pre-trial conpetency hearing and the other was for
the actual trial. She qualified that the trial provision
was very limted because of the right of cross exam nation.
She furthered that the conpetency provision was broader,
but the court held the burden to determ ne the fairness of
t he proceedi ngs.

Dr. Chennault responded that if the child victim could not
be present at the court proceedings the video conferencing

House Fi nance Conmmittee 3 04/02/12 1:37 P. M



provisions would be a key asset for the prosecution of
of f enders.

1:46:12 PM

GLORIA O NEILL, PRESI DENT AND CHI EF EXECUTI VE OFFI CER, COOK
| NLET TRI BAL COUNCI L, ANCHORAGE (via tel econference), spoke
in support of the bill. She testified that the council was
particularly troubled by the luring of young Al aska Native
wonen from villages into the sex trade. She pointed out to
the commttee that sex traffickers often preyed upon the
nost vul nerable, and often nost invisible to society: the
homel ess, runaway youth, and youth in foster care. She
asserted that there were a disproportionate nunber of
Native wormen in the sex trade in Anchorage. She relayed
that the typical age for Alaska Native fenales entering
into the trade was 15 to 17 years old, and that they were
especially vulnerable because they could be |[|abeled as
"exotic." She supported the bill because it recognized that
the victins of the trade were just that: victins, and not
prostitutes or <crimnals. She added that the counci
supported increased sentences for per petrators. She
stressed that the council was dedicated to partnering with
public and private entities to ensure that there were
appropriate preventative and response services for victins
in the hope that victinms would nove on to |lead happy and
successful |ives.

1:48: 55 PM

SERGEANT KATHY LACEY, ANCHORAGE POLICE DEPARTMENT (via
tel econference), voiced support for the legislation. She

not ed t hat t he | anguage change from  "pronoting
prostitution” to "sex trafficking" was significant because
"pronoting prostitution' inplied a business arrangenent

between the trafficker and the victim She furthered that
the average age of entry into the trade was 14 years-of-
age, and that the young age namde victins particularly
vul nerable. She believed that increasing penalties for the
patrons of prostitution was al so inportant.

1: 51: 23 PM

Vi ce-chair Fairclough solicited her opinion about striking
the videoconferencing provision, which was intended to
address the 6th anmendnment right to confront and question
t he accuser.

House Fi nance Conmmittee 4 04/02/12 1:37 P. M



Ms. Lacey noted that she had not seen the anendnent;
however, she believed that whatever could be done to nake
the situation easier on the victins, the better.

LI EUTENANT RODNEY DI AL, STATE TROOPER, DEPARTMENT OF PUBLI C
SAFETY (via teleconference), spoke in support of the bill
and was avail able for questions.

GERAD GODFREY, CHAIR, VICOLENT CRIMES COVPENSATI ON BOARD
(via teleconference), pointed to a letter of support

included in nenbers' packets (copy on file). He voiced
strong support for the victim centered approach taken by
the bill. He shared that while serving on the board he had
noticed that a certain percentage of victins that submtted
claims had been on an unhealthy life trajectory. He thought

that the state, through legislation, could assist the
victinms in beconmng positive nenbers of society. He stated
that sex trafficking victins typically had |ow self-esteem

whi ch was conpounded by working in the trade. He believed
that the system should be sensitive about |abeling victinmns.

He relayed that victins were able to recognize their self-
worth when those who exploited them suffered severe
consequences. He asserted t hat the videoconference
provi sion was inportant because it would allow the victim
to be part of the process wthout the fear of re-

victim zation.

1:58: 25 PM

LI SA MARI OTTI, POLICY DI RECTOR, ALASKA NETWORK OF DQOVESTI C
VI OLENCE AND SEXUAL ASSAULT, spoke in strong support of the
| egi sl ation; specifically, t he | anguage change of
"pronoting prostitution" to "sex trafficking" because it
mai ntai ned focus on the acts of a perpetrator. She stated
that the victins of sex trafficking were often the nost
vul nerabl e nmenbers of society; honeless adults and children
of both sexes were often preyed on by groups of
perpetrators. She testified in support of increasing
penalties for patronizing a prostitute; particularly if the
sex worker was a mnor.

Vi ce-chair Fai r cl ough di scussed t he use of
vi deoconferenci ng; specifically, children who were victinms
of sexual assault being allowed to provide video testinony
instead of appearing in a courtroom She shared that the
adm nistration had requested that the conmttee consider

House Fi nance Conmmittee 5 04/02/12 1:37 P. M



allowing videoconferencing for conpetency hearings of
def endants. She asked Ms. Mariotti's opinion on the matter.

Ms. Mariotti responded that LAW was trying to address the
fact that there were very few experts available in Al aska
She addressed the children videoconferencing |aw, which had
been upheld in the court of appeals. She assured the
conm ttee that LAW had worked to bal ance the constitutiona
rights of the victim and the confrontational rights of the
def endant under the 6th Amendnent. She thought that it
woul d be chal | enged, but that LAWwould win the chall enge.

Vi ce-chair Fairclough understood that there were certain
situations under which a judge, or jury, could allow
vi deoconferencing. She queried the circunstances under
whi ch a vul nerabl e child coul d testify t hr ough
vi deoconf erence.

2: 03: 30 PM

Ms. Mariotti replied that she was not an expert in the
area. She believed that the basis for the videoconferencing
provi si on was because chil dren wer e particularly
vul nerable. She said the provision could be extended to
victimse who <could be re-traumatized by facing their
perpetrators in court.

Ms. Carpeneti stated that the bill allowed for renote
testimony if the wtness was unavailable to appear in
person. She said that the proposed procedure would be two-
way video, and would require the wtness to see the
courtroom as if they were actually sitting in the wtness
stand. She added that the provision supplenmented current
law, which allowed for one way video testinony of a child
victim if the court found that facing the person in court
woul d be too traumatic. She relayed that in certain, fact-
specific circunstances, where the witness could not make it
to the court room the witness could testify renotely.

Vi ce-chair Fairclough asked whether there would be a person
fromthe court systemw th the videoconferencing wtness.

Ms. Carpeneti answered that the bill required the victimto
be alone with the videoconference. She clarified that an
application could be mde to the court to allow for a
person to acconpany a child for support.

House Fi nance Conmmittee 6 04/02/12 1:37 P. M



Representative Gara asserted that he did not intend for his
amendnment to lead to the re-victimzation of wtnesses. He
said that the bill did not seem to be ainmed at protecting
victinms from being re-victimzed. He cited Page 16, which
allowed for the videoconference testinony if the wtness
was unavailable. He pointed to the mandatory requirenents
for videoconferencing:

(1) the requesting party establishes that testinony by
two-way video conference is necessary to further an
i nportant public policy;

(2) the requesting party establishes that the w tness
is unavail abl e

He surmised that if the wtness was avail able, even if they
were a victim the provision would not apply.

Ms. Carpeneti agreed. She explained that the wtness may
have noved out of state, which would nmake them unavail abl e.
She stressed that if the witness was a child under 16 years
of age, the court of appeals had upheld that one-way video
coul d be used.

Ms. Carpeneti furthered that the court rule in Section 24
of the bill was limted. She stated that the procedure had
been upheld by the United States Suprenme Court, and was
simlar to a procedure that had been upheld by the state's
court of appeals.

Representative Gara asked if there were procedures in place
that would protect witnesses in the courtroom

2: 09: 56 PM

Ms. Carpeneti responded that victins were protected under
statute, but not necessarily in the courtroom setting. She
stated that the right of notice, and the opportunity to be
heard were anong the protections provided by the court.

Representative Gara hypot hesi zed that the court could allow
testinony to happen by deposition, wth all parties in
di fferent |ocations.

Ms. Carpeneti responded that the courts had held that the
two-way video conferencing was fair to all people involved

House Fi nance Conmmittee 7 04/02/12 1:37 P. M



because it gave the judge the chance to evaluate the
person's deneanor.

ALI CE MYERS, BOARD MEMBER, MARY MAGDALENE HOVE ALASKA,
ANCHORAGE (via teleconference), spoke in favor of the
| egislation. She testified that many of the wonen that
passed through the honme had been preyed upon in their youth
by pinps, working prostitutes, and in sonme cases their own
not hers. She opined that it was common for a child to begin
soliciting under the tutelage of the nother. She said the
nother would in turn sell the child to a pinp for drugs.
She added that the wonmen that passed through the home did
not have the job skills needed to build a new life. She
sai d t hey wer e of ten honel ess, poor, unski | | ed,
under educat ed, drug addi ct ed, mentally and physically
unheal thy, felons, lacking in famlial support, and nost
all of them were nothers. She relayed that these wonen
continued to exist in a cycle; rotating between survival on
the streets and incarceration, and often incarceration was
a welcone respite. She testified in support of the |anguage
change in the bill, and the addition of stronger patron
accountability.

2:15:52 PM

NANCY MEADE, GENERAL COUNSEL, OFFICE OF THE ADM NI STRATI VE
Dl RECTOR, ALASKA COURT  SYSTEM expl ai ned that t he
conpetency hearings in Section 16 of the legislation were
not uncomon. She said that the hearings were part of a
crimnal case; however, during a conpetency hearing not all

def endant protections would be attached. She thought that
there could be questions concerning the constitutionality
of the provision, but that the court had no opinion on the
matter. She clarified that not every courtroom currently
had the capacity to support the two-way video conferencing.
She directed attention to the indetermnate fiscal note.
She said that in sonme situations Skype could be used, but
that the court did not have the ability to provide high-
quality, hi gh-sound video in all di fferent crimna

proceedi ngs. She said that Section 24 of the bill could
apply in all crimnal cases.

Representative Guttenberg queried the issue of severability
regardi ng the | egislation.

MVs. Car penet i responded that there was a general
severability statute in Alaska law that provided that if

House Fi nance Conmmittee 8 04/02/12 1:37 P. M



one provision in a bill was found to be unconstitutiona
the rest of the bill would still stand.

Ms. Meade el aborated that the video-conferencing portions
of the bill were not necessarily related to the sex
trafficking provision; they were tw different parts of
crimnal |aw that woul d be changed by the bill.

Represent ati ve Doogan asked for an explanation of Page 16,
line 20. He wanted to know the standard of "clear and
convincing evidence," as well as what it was being applied
to on lines 30 and 31.

V5. Car penet i responded that "cl ear and convi nci ng
evi dence" was a standard that was nore difficult to reach
t han preponderance of evidence, which was the standard used
in nost civil litigation. She said that the state was
required to prove beyond a reasonabl e doubt before soneone
could be convicted of a crinme, which was the highest burden
of proof in law. She relayed that "clear and convincing"
rested between "preponderance of evidence" and "beyond a
reasonabl e doubt."

2:21:31 PM

Representati ve Doogan asked why the highest standard of
beyond a reasonabl e doubt had not been used.

Ms. Carpeneti responded that the court of appeals had found
that clear and convincing would be the appropriate burden
of proof in the case of unavailability of child w tnesses.

Representati ve Doogan noted that the sanme standard applied
t hroughout the legislation to patrons of prostitution.

Ms. Carpeneti clarified that the standard that applied to a
patron of a prostitute was beyond a reasonabl e doubt.

Co- Chair Thomas thought that plea bargains should not be
allowed in child sex trafficking cases. He felt that
perpetrators should be barred fromhiring the best and nost
capabl e attorneys.

Ms. Carpeneti responded that the state public defender was
excellent. She rem nded the commttee that the right to an
attorney was protected under the constitution. She added
that the crime of sex trafficking in the first degree as

House Fi nance Conmmittee 9 04/02/12 1:37 P. M



described in the bill would be an unclassified felony,
whi ch was the highest |evel of crime under state |aw.

2:26: 00 PM

Representative Gara cited Page 16. He surmsed that the
court had a stronger interest in protecting victins as
opposed to generic wtnesses. He understood that the
provision would apply to all wunavailable wtnesses. He
suggested limting Line 5 to "testinony froma victim" He
t hought that the court would be nore willing to protect a
victim He believed that this would protect victins wthout
extending the provision to other w tnesses.

Ms. Carpeneti responded that there were some w tnesses who
could be critical to the prosecution of the case, that were
not the victim but were unavailable. She said that the
rule would only be applied if the court found that the
witness had a connection to a particular victim under a
particular fact pattern. She stressed that the provision
woul d have to be justified and would be limted. She shared
that the |anguage followed what the United States Suprene
Court had upheld under Maryland v. Craig [The court ruled
that the Sixth Amendment's Confrontation C ause, which
provides crimnal defendants with the right to confront
Wi tnesses against them did not bar the use of one-way
closed circuit television to present testinony by an
alleged child sex abuse victim] She shared that the
decision in that case had required the court to make fact
specific determinations that a particular wtness, for a
particul ar case, justified the use of videoconferencing.

Representative Gara understood that presently, the courts
deposed witnesses if they were unavail abl e.

Ms. Carpeneti said that a deposition was a possibility, and
then the court would decide if it was admssible. She
furthered that a two-way video would be nore hel pful to the
process than a flat deposition.

Representati ve Neuman expressed concern with the |ack of
definition for "indecent materials" found on Page 3, line
31 of the |egislation.

Ms. Carpeneti replied that Section 4, page 3, line 30 was

specifically in the bill to address a decision by the
Federal District Court, which found that the state's

House Fi nance Conmmittee 10 04/02/12 1:37 P. M



statute prohibiting the distribution of indecent materials
to mnors was unconstitutionally overbroad. The section had
been rewitten in order to address the concerns of that
decision; it required the state to prove that the defendant
intentionally distributed the material, or possessed it
wth the intention to distribute, to a person known, or
believed, to be a child. She cited Page 4, lines 9 through
18, which described the prohibited material.

2:31:54 PM

Representative Neunman opined that the |anguage on Page 4
described acts, and not material. He asserted that indecent
material could be any nunber of things. He requested a
description of exactly what were indecent materials.

Ms. Carpeneti responded that the provision would cover
material in a variety of formats: books, enmmil, video, any
mat eri al that included the prohibited acts.

Representative Neuman explained that his concern stemed
fromthe fact that there were definitions in the bill for
ot her acts.

Ms. Carpeneti responded that Section 3 of the bill expanded
the definition of "serious felony offense" solely for the
purpose of the law dealing with conspiracy. She said that
the law that dealt wth conspiracy was limted in its
application to serious crimes. She explained that the bil

provided for two additional crinmes: human trafficking in
the first degree and sex trafficking in the second degree.

Representative Neuman wondered whether it would be better
to include a description of what the indecent materials
were. Additionally, he pointed to Section 13 related to the
forfeiture of property; he asked for a definition of

property.

Ms. Carpeneti replied that the forfeiture provision would
include itens such as cars, houses, noney; anything used to
institute, aid, or facilitate sex trafficking, as well as
anything received or derived from sex trafficking. She
stated that current law allowed that the state could seek
forfeiture of noney or property that was used to commt sex
trafficking. The legislation would add the crinme of
pronoting prostitution by an adult seeking a prostitute who
was under age.

House Fi nance Committee 11 04/02/12 1:37 P. M



Representative WIson wondered what the current ultimte
penalty was for a perpetrator related sex trafficking.

Ms. Carpeneti responded that the maxi numterm was 99 years.
She noted that the bill only changed the penalty applied to
the patron of a prostitute. She furthered that if the sex
wor ker was under 18, and if there were three or nore years
between the patron and the worker, the penalty would be a
Class C felony.

Representative WIson wondered why it mattered how old the
patron was, if the victimwas a m nor.

Ms. Carpeneti believed that the age of the patron was
i nportant because it was expected that the patron would be
of an age of maturity, and would be nore cognizant of their
behavi or when patroni zing a m nor sex worker.

2:38: 32 PM

Vice-chair Fairclough noted that sone patrons consider
sexual activity with a mnor exotic, which neant that pinps
woul d receive a premum price. She explained that this was
the reasoning behind increasing the penalty for patron
know ngly soliciting underage prostitutes.

Vi ce-chair Fairclough wondered what would prevent the
departnment from using expert wtnesses exclusively in a
two-way video conference. She thought that this would
ensure that the jury heard fromthe best experts possible.

Ms. Carpeneti responded that the reason for putting the
possibility in statute was that there was a shortage of
psychiatrists and psychol ogists that had the expertise to
testify to the conpetency of a person charged with a crine.
She said that the approach was to use the expertise and
resources as efficiently as possible; for exanple, having
an expert appear by videoconference in a village, rather
than having the expert travel. She stated that as |long as
the court found that it was fair, and all participants had
a fair chance to exam ne the witness, out-of-state experts
coul d be used.

Vice-chair Fairclough offered that a defense would then
have the sanme opportunity to provide an expert. She noted
t hat weat her conditions occasionally made it inpossible for
in-time arrival to some conmmunities. She believed the

House Fi nance Committee 12 04/02/12 1:37 P. M



benefits of the tw-way conferencing outweighed the
negati ves. She thought that it was inportant to recognize
t hat t echnol ogi cal advancenent s, like t wo- way
vi deoconferencing, were realities to consider in the future
crafting of policy.

Co-Chair Stoltze noved to anendnents.

Representative Gara had no intention of offering amendnent
2. He stressed that the amendnent had not been witten with
the intention of re-victimzing wWtnesses.

Representative Gara MOVED t o ADOPT Amendnent 1

Page 5, line 15:
After "under" delete "18"
After "under" insert "20"

Co-Chair Stoltze OBIJECTED for discussion

Representative Gara expl ai ned Amendnent 1. He believed that
young wonen were barely out of high school at age 20, and
were therefore as inpressionable as soneone who was 18. He
t hought that increasing the penalty for a sex trafficker
who hired a person under age 20, rather than 18, would
result in fewer young people entering the sex trade.

Ms. Carpeneti agreed that people under 20 years old were
very vul nerabl e.

Co-Chair Thomas opined that defense |awers for sex
traffickers were often provided at the expense of the
state.

Representati ve Costello asked what t he sent enci ng
gui delines would be for the crinme of sex trafficking in the
first degree involving an 18 year-old, as the bill was
currently witten. She queried the sane sentencing

guidelines and crime | abel if the victimwas a 19 year-old.

Ms. Carpeneti responded that the bill would raise the
penalty for a patronizing an under aged prostitute (if
there was three years age difference between the patron and
the prostitute) from a Cass B msdeneanor to a Cass C
felony, which was five years in jail. She said that sex
trafficking in the first degree would be an unclassified
felony if the victimwas under 18 years old and woul d have

House Fi nance Conmmittee 13 04/02/12 1:37 P. M



a maxi mum term of 99 years. Under current law if the victim
was over 18 the nmaximum term was 20 years. She furthered
that sex trafficking in the second degree was a Class B
felony that could result in 10 years in prison. She relayed
that sex trafficking in the third degree was a Cass C
felony and carried a maximum term of 5 years and sex
trafficking in the fourth degree was a Class A m sdeneanor,
with a maximum term of one year. She noted that the
penalties for sex trafficking were not changed in the
| egislation. She said that if the age was changed from
under 18 to under 20, the penalty for people that induced
victinms under 20 woul d be raised to an unclassified fel ony.

Representative Costello wondered whether there was any
overlap related to the m ninum and maxi nrum terns that woul d
be given to perpetrators.

Ms. Carpeneti answered that she had just listed the maxi num
terms of inprisonment. She specified that the sentencing
ranges could be found in AS 12.55.125. She stated that the
term would depend on the offender's crimnal history. She
assured the conmttee that the state had significant
sentenci ng ranges for people who victinm zed other people in
a sexual way.

Representative Costello probed what change the anmendnent
woul d have in the overall effect of the |egislation.

Co-Chair Stoltze interjected that the question was about
what woul d happen to 19 year-old victins.

Ms. Carpeneti replied that the defendant would be subject
to an unclassified felony prosecution. She added that under
current |aw soneone found gqguilty of soliciting a 19 year
old would be subject to a maximum term of 20 years in
prison.

2:53:15 PM

Representative Costell o queried the m ni mum sent ences.

Ms. Carpeneti responded that a defendant that was convicted
of sex trafficking in the first degree when the victim was
under 18, and if the victim was under 13 years-old, first
offense: 25 to 35 years; 13 years-old and above: 20 to 30
years. She added that the range would increase if a firearm
or weapon was used.

House Fi nance Committee 14 04/02/12 1:37 P. M



Representative Joule understood the range enconpassed the
m nimumto the maxi mum sentence that could be given.

Ms. Carpeneti replied that when a judge was sentencing a
person for the first offense of sex trafficking of a child,
the range if the victim was under 13 years-old would be 25
to 35 years. She said that the range would be subject to
alteration depending on mtigating or aggravating factors.

Representative Joule surm sed that the m ni num sentence was
a noving target based on aggravated or mtigating
ci rcumst ances.

Ms. Carpeneti replied that that was true.

Representati ve Neuman understood that the age change in the
proposed anendnent woul d nake the |aw stricter

Ms. Carpeneti responded in the affirmative.

Representative Gara clarified that the anendnent spoke to
the sex trafficker and not the patron.

Representative WIlson wondered if the anendnent changed the
original intent of the bill, which was to protect mnors
age 18 and under.

Ms. Carpeneti replied that generally speaking in crimna
law terns a minor was a person under 18 who was addressed
by the juvenile justice system She said that in certain
ci rcunstances the courts could treat people as juveniles up
to 20 years of age.

2:58: 35 PM

Representative WIson wondered how the change woul d i npact
the fiscal note. She mmintained her OBJECTION to the
anmendnent .

Representative Gara clarified that the anendnment only
related to the sentence against the sex trafficker. He
reiterated that it wuld not change any of +the |aws
relating to a m nor.

Ms. Carpeneti agreed that the anmendnment would only change
the penalty for pronoting prostitution in the first degree

House Fi nance Conmmittee 15 04/02/12 1:37 P. M



for a person who was guilty of the trafficking of a person
under the age of 20.

Co-Chair Stoltze reiterated that the anendnent would not
affect the patron or the victim

Representative Joule clarified that the judge had the
di scretion to declare a person a mnor even if the person
was over the age of 18.

Ms. Carpeneti responded that she did not know whether the
judge would have the authority. She stressed that the
| egi sl ature would define the crinme in the bill, which would
informthe prosecution and the court system of the elenents
of the crine.

Representative Wl son W THDREW her OBJECTI ON

There being NO further OBJECTI ON, Anmendnent 1 was ADOPTED

3:02:12 PM

Co- Chair Thomas revisited whether the bill could be changed
so that people accused of sex trafficking would be barred
fromretaining a state appoi nted public defender.

Ms. Carpeneti advised against limting the availability of
public defenders. She stated that the accused had the right
under constitutional law to a crimnal defense | awer.

Co- Chair Thomas maintained his position that defendants in
sex trafficking cases should not be allowed a defense paid
for by the state.

Representative Gara explained that public defenders were
awarded to defendants that nmet specific poverty guidelines.
He added that not nany sex traffickers were poor. He
recogni zed that defendants could hide their assets.

Vice-chair Fairclough pointed to the fiscal notes: Court
System Departnment of Administration, Departnent of Public
Safety, Departnent of Law, Departnent of Corrections.

Representative Costello pointed to a typo in OVB conponent
nunber 43 in the word substitute.

3:07:52 PM

House Fi nance Conmmittee 16 04/02/12 1:37 P. M



Representative Doogan opined that another indetermnate
fiscal note was attached to legislation before the
comittee.

Vi ce-chair Fairclough MOVED to report CSHB 359(FIN) out of
comittee W th i ndi vi dual recommendat i ons and t he
acconpanyi ng fiscal notes. There being NO OBJECTION, it was
so order ed.

CSHB 359(FIN) was REPORTED out of commttee with a "do
pass" recomendation and with two new zero fiscal notes
from the Departnent of Adm nistration, two new zero fisca

notes from the Departnent of Public Safety, one new zero
fiscal note from the Departnent of Law, one new
indeterminate note from the Departnent of Corrections, and
one previously published indetermnate fiscal note: FN3
(CRT).

3:08: 36 PM
AT EASE

3:14:17 PM

RECONVENED

#hb292
HOUSE BILL NO. 292

"An Act relating to property exenptions for retirenent
plans; relating to pleadings, orders, liability, and
notices under the Uniform Probate Code; relating to
the Al aska Principal and Inconme Act; relating to the
Al aska Uniform Transfers to Mnors Act; relating to
the disposition of human  remai ns; relating to
insurable interests for life insurance policies

relating to transfers of individual retirenent plans;
relating to the community property of married persons;
and anendi ng Rule 301(a), Al aska Rul es of Evidence."

3:14:40 PM

Vi ce-chair Fairclough MOVED CSHB 292(L&C), 27-LS1232/1 as a
wor ki ng document before the commttee. There being NO
OBJECTION it was so ordered.

House Fi nance Committee 17 04/02/12 1:37 P. M



JANE Pl ERSON, STAFF, REPRESENTATI VE  STEVE  THOWPSON,
explained the |legislation. She read from the sponsor
statenent :

House Bill 292 provides for anendnents to statute in
the foll ow ng areas:

* Extends protection for retirenent plan assets to
the beneficiaries of retirenent plans (often the
survi ving spouse).

e Provides neans of representation for mnors and
i ncapacitated persons in dealing wth settlenents
of accounts or settlement agreenents.

e Anends the 2003 Al aska Principal and Incone Act
to conformto current I RS regul ations.

e Provides rules concerning who may control the
di sposition of decedents' remains.

e Makes conformng anendnents to Alaska's |aws
regarding insurable interests to align wth
changes to the Uniform Trust Code.

e Provides that IRA interests can be voluntarily
transferred to a famly nenber or trust.

* Mkes anendnents to Alaska's comunity property
provisions to update and clarify the ownership of
community property.

 Allows a beneficiary to extend the tine funds

will be held in a Uniform Transfer to Mnors
Account .

3:17: 08 PM

DAVI D SHAFTEL, PRI VATE ATTORNEY, ANCHORAGE (via

tel econference), detailed the sectional analysis (copy on
file).

Represent ati ve Edgnon asked for the highlights of the bill.

M. Shaftel pointed to Section 4 and 5, which dealt wth
extending virtual representation from agreenents that were
reached in court to agreenents that were reached outside of
court, such as settlenents or trust accountings. He
furthered that Sections 6 through 8 spoke to a nethod for
nodi fying trust, and had been adopted by 13 states. He
continued to explain that Sections 9-25 dealt wth the
Al aska Principal and Incone Act, and incorporated new
f eder al regul ations and recomendations from national
experts to inprove the incone act. Sections 26 through 28

House Fi nance Conmmittee 18 04/02/12 1:37 P. M



detailed the anmendnments to Alaska Uniform Transfers to
M nors Act; the change allowed, with the mnors consent,
the extension of the accounts beyond the age of 25. He
concluded that Section 29 related to decedents remains.

3:22:19 PM

Representative Costello asked whether Sections 26 through
28 provided a ceiling of 25 years of age, or extended the
age.

M. Shaftel replied that the extension could be applied to
any age that was agreeable to the m nor and the custodi an.

Representative Costello asked about the priority list in
Section 29 related to the decision of disposing of remains.

M. Shaftel answered that the list could be found on Pages
24 and 25 of the bill. He continued to Section 30, which
spoke to insurable interests and clarified the | aw and made
it clear that trusts and business entities could own life
insurance if the beneficiaries were those with an insurable
interest. He stated that Section 31 dealt with transfers of
|RA interests and allowed for the voluntary transfer of |IRA
interests for estate planning purposes. Sections 32 through
36 spoke to the state community property act and clarified
survi vorshi p questions and beneficiary designations.

3:25:23 PM

Representative Quttenberg asked about sections 6 through 8;
particularly the |last paragraph. He wondered about the
level of flexibility that would be allowed for adjusting to
changi ng circunst ances.

M. Shaftel replied that the statute was a result of
hearing in New York concerning the balance of correcting
adm nistrative types of errors and dispositive changes. He
said that when nmaking a change to the trust the dispositive
plan in place would need to be followed. He said that
i ncreasingly he had seen plans where the trustee was given
absolute discretion to make distributions, which allowed
for nore leeway. He relayed that there was no such thing
anynore as a conpletely irrevocable trust. He stressed that
t he provision had been carefully vetted.

3:27:58 PM

House Fi nance Conmmittee 19 04/02/12 1:37 P. M



DOUGLAS BLATTMACHR, ALASKA TRUST COVPANY (via
tel econference), spoke in strong support of the bill.

BETH CHAPMAN, PRI VATE ATTORNEY, JUNEAU, strongly supported
the | egislation.

Representative Gara asked whether there was any | anguage in
the bill that would weaken the rights of beneficiaries or
victins of fraud.

Ms. Chapman responded in the negative.
Co- Chair Thomas CLOSED public testinony.

Vi ce-chair Fairclough discussed the one zero fiscal note
from Departnent of Commerce, Community and Econom c
Devel opnent .

Vi ce-chair Fairclough MOVED to report CSHB 292(L&C) out of
committee W th i ndi vi dual recommendat i ons and t he
acconpanying fiscal note. There being NO OBJECTION, it was
so ordered.

CSHB 292(L&C) was REPORTED out of conmittee with a "do
pass" recommendation and with one previously published zero
fiscal note: FN1 (CED).

#
ADJ OURNVENT

3:31: 26 PM

The neeting was adjourned at 3:31 PM

House Fi nance Conmmittee 20 04/02/12 1:37 P. M



